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— FRANK MITCHELL INTERVIEW ONE — 

 

JOHNSON: This is Kathleen Johnson from the Office of History and Preservation, 

interviewing Frank Mitchell, the first African-American Page for the U.S. House 

of Representatives. The date is August 6, 2008, and the interview is taking place 

in the Madison Building of the Library of Congress.1

 

  

 Today, I was hoping that we could start with some biographical information. 

 

MITCHELL: Okay. 

 

JOHNSON: When and where were you born? 

 

MITCHELL: I was born in Detroit, Michigan; July 18, 1949.  

 

JOHNSON: And what were the names and occupations of your parents? 

 

MITCHELL: My mother’s name was Norma Bush Mitchell, and my father’s name was Frank 

Weldon. And Frank worked at the water department in the city of Detroit, and 

Norma worked as kind of a—I think an aide at nursing homes and hospitals and 

things like that. I should say, though, they didn’t raise me. I was raised by an 

aunt and uncle—Norma’s aunt and uncle—in Springfield, Illinois. So I was 

shipped off there at an early age—like, before I walked—to Springfield. And 

along with my sister, who was a year older than me. And we stayed there for a 

                     
1 At the time of the interview, Frank Mitchell was widely considered the first African-American Page in the U.S. 
House of Representatives. However, recent scholarship has shown that Alfred Q. Powell of Virginia, appointed as a 
House Page on April 1, 1871, holds that distinction. See, “XLIIID Congress—In Session: Continuation of the Ku 
Klux Klan Debate in the House,” 3 April 1871, New-York Tribune: 1; “Letter from Washington,” 3 April 1871, 
Baltimore Sun: 4. 
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couple of years, I think, and Norma came and got us. And my aunt said, “Wait a 

minute, I’ve been raising these kids as if they’re my own; I’m going to keep one 

of them.” And she went to Detroit and wouldn’t leave until she brought one of 

us back. And it was me. {laughter} 

JOHNSON: What schools did you attend before coming to Washington, D.C.? 

 

MITCHELL: Iles Elementary in Springfield and George Washington Junior High, and I was at 

Feitshans High School in Springfield when I got the call.  

 

JOHNSON: Did you always have an interest in politics? 

 

MITCHELL: I did. I always had an interest in . . . we called it civics, I think, in the class. 

That’s what the class was called back then. But there was always an interest in 

historical information. I always knew and learned and was interested in the 

process of how laws and things were made. And when I became a Page, actually, 

the people that I worked with and for, were very—at least, they told me they 

were—very impressed, as to how I knew as much as I did. Like the hopper, and 

how appropriation bills start in the House, and, you know, different things like 

that, that they said a lot of Pages weren’t aware of.2

 

 So I guess I can attribute that 

to the Springfield, Illinois, public school system. 

JOHNSON: How did you first learn about the Page program? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, I didn’t know it until I got there. I heard about Pages in, like, I can’t 

remember if it was a Weekly Reader or a Junior Scholastic magazine. And I saw a 

story about some Pages and what they do and that kind of thing. And I always 
                     
2 Representatives may introduce bills by placing them in the bill hopper attached to the side of the desk of the Clerk 
of the House in the House Chamber. For information on the hopper and the House Chamber, see “The House 
Chamber,” Office of the House Historian,  
http://artandhistory.house.gov/art_artifacts/virtual_tours/house_chamber/rostrum.aspx .  
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thought at that point that it would be real nice, real interesting to be a Page. But 

that was the extent of my effort of trying to make anything happen. It just kind 

of came my way. 

 

 

JOHNSON: So, can you describe how that happened? How did you become a Page? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, there are conflicting stories, as with a lot of historical events. One version 

that I’m aware of, that I took part in, was there were five of us from our high 

school that were invited, along with our parents, to the local Congressman, Paul 

Findley’s, office. It was on a Sunday afternoon. There was the local Republican 

chairman, [who] kind of headed the committee, and there were—I don’t 

remember who else was on the committee. But he interviewed us and our 

parents. And then, later that evening—I mean, these were five guys, myself 

included, that had good grades and decent attitudes and, you know, had 

indicated they wanted to do something, I guess, with their lives. And for our 

sakes, it was Tom Carswell, Robert Hearn, Jesse Howard, and Rufus Adams, 

besides myself. 

 

JOHNSON: Good memory. 

 

MITCHELL: All people that I—except for Tom—all people I’ve talked to recently. But they  

[4:00] called me about, I don’t know, seven that evening—it was a Sunday night—and 

said I need to be leaving for Washington Wednesday morning. And that meant 

saying goodbyes; that meant getting prepared in terms of dress. You know, I had 

a suit, I’m sure, but I don’t remember it, and I’m sure it wouldn’t have withstood 

wearing it on a daily basis. 
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So my uncle—not the uncle that raised me, but another uncle—took me to a 

local clothing store and bought me a couple of suits, and outfitted me, and, you 

know, got me ready for that. And I went around and said my goodbyes to my 

buddies and goodbye to my girlfriend Rita. And that Tuesday morning, Jay 

David Jones, the state representative from Springfield, escorted me to 

Washington. And we went to meet Mr. Findley, and then we were taken into 

Gerald Ford’s office, who was the House Minority Leader at the time. And so 

that version tells me that I competed with those other four guys and was selected 

to be the first black Page in the House of Representatives. 

   

 The other version is that a woman from Springfield that worked for 

Congressman Bob [Robert] McClory, from northern Illinois, had been asked 

from the Congressman—who obviously knew Mr. Findley—whether she knew 

anyone in Springfield who could fit the bill for what they were looking for, and 

she told him about me. She knew my family and everything like that. So another 

version says that, kind of, she selected me, and they came and got me, found me, 

and went through a process to make it look good, I guess. Or look competitive. 

But that the decision may have been made before I even heard about it.  

 

JOHNSON: As far as you know, was this a concerted effort to hire an African-American Page? 

 

MITCHELL: Absolutely. 

 

JOHNSON: So the other four boys that you mentioned were also black? 

 

MITCHELL: Yes. And as I understand it, it was a favor that Mr. Findley—and he and I still 

communicate—that he asked Mr. Ford whether he would be allowed to do that, 

and they came to Springfield because it was Lincoln’s birthplace—not birthplace, 

http://oralhistory.clerk.house.gov/�
http://bioguide.congress.gov/scripts/biodisplay.pl?index=F000260�
http://bioguide.congress.gov/scripts/biodisplay.pl?index=M000340�


http://oralhistory.clerk.house.gov/ 5 

but hometown.3

Abraham Lincoln

 And I was appointed on the eve of the 100th anniversary of the 

assassination of . So, yes. 

 

JOHNSON: So this would have been in 1965. 

 

MITCHELL: Right. 

JOHNSON: You were aware that you would be the first African-American Page [for the 

House]. 

 

MITCHELL: Right. 

 

JOHNSON: Were you interested, at that point, in making history, or did you just want to 

become a Page and serve for the House? 

 

MITCHELL: I guess I wanted to become a Page. The fact that it was history-making didn’t 

really affect me. Because you don’t feel or sense history while it’s being made. 

You’re just going through the motions of living your life. I mean, and the 

perspective of what I did and when I did it really is only something I’ve thought 

about from a deep historical context in the last few years. I mean, it 

[8:00] was five weeks after the Edmund Pettus Bridge incident in Selma, Alabama.4

                     
3 President Abraham Lincoln was born in Hardin County, Kentucky, on February 12, 1809. 

 

That’s—I mean, again, why my mother let me go or how my mother let me go is 

incredible to me. I mean, I had difficulty riding my bike across the busy street 

without her permission. So it was amazing. I mean, this was—you know, it was 

just a tremendously historically significant time for civil rights. Vietnam really 

wasn’t in play yet, the women’s movement really wasn’t in play, but civil rights 

4 Reference to the March 7, 1965, voting rights march in which state troopers brutally beat peaceful civil rights 
protestors, led by future Congressman John R. Lewis of Georgia, at the foot of the Edmund Pettus Bridge in Selma, 
Alabama. For information, see John Lewis with Michael D’Orso, Walking with the Wind: A Memoir of the 
Movement (New York: Simon and Schuster, 1998): 323–332.   
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was going gung-ho. Watts happened while I was there—while I was here in 

Washington in the House.5

 

 It was an amazing time, but you don’t see it; you 

know, it’s kind of like a headline today. You know, 20 years from now, you’ll 

talk to your children or grandchildren about it, and then you can put it in some 

context as to what it meant to everything else in the world and what’s happened 

since. But right then, you can’t—I don’t think you really have the perspective. 

JOHNSON: What was the reaction of your family and also your hometown of Springfield? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, it was very positive. All my family, I mean, they get—unlike me, many 

people don’t understand the difference between the House and the Senate and 

Congress and even the White House. So for many of my family, I was a Page in 

the White House. They promoted me. {laughter} And a lot of people in 

Springfield, too. But they had . . . when I came back, like for a break or 

something like that, they had receptions and things for me. Still today. And it’s 

been a lot of years, and I was gone a lot of the years since I was a Page; I was gone 

like 35 years from Springfield, crafting my career, I guess. But even now I feel 

some celebrity. You know, people introduce me that way. You know, “This is 

Frank Mitchell. He was the first black Page in the . . .” 

 Sometimes they get it right, sometimes they don’t. “The House of 

Representatives.” “The Senate.” “The Congress.” “The White House.” “In 

Washington.” {laughter} 

 

JOHNSON: {laughter} Something important. 

 

MITCHELL: Something important, yeah. 

 

                     
5 Reference to the 1965 race riots which took place in the Watts neighborhood of Los Angeles, California.  
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JOHNSON: You mentioned a few minutes ago that you met Minority Leader Ford. And I 

read about the press conference that was held upon your arrival. What are your 

recollections of that day—your first day and the press conference?6

 

 

MITCHELL: Well, yeah. I hadn’t started working yet when they had the press conference. I 

just remember that there were more cameras, TV, and still cameras than I’d ever 

seen before. The lights were flashing. I was kind of—I mean, I guess I was—

totally in awe, at 15, just trying to keep up with it all and be ready to sound 

intelligent when they asked me a question. But, you know, obviously Mr. Ford 

took the lead, and Mr. Findley had a role. And they asked me—I’m sure, as I 

recall, reading some things, too—how I felt, and, you know, what it meant to 

me. And it was very important. I mean, I was raised in a house, again, with my 

aunt and uncle and my great-aunt and then her mother—so my great-

grandmother. And there were always stories about family members doing things, 

you know. And it’s up to the listener to determine how significant those things 

are. But they always meant something to the 

[12:00] storyteller—to my grandmother or my aunt. So I was raised to think big, to 

think that I could do whatever I decided to do. And so I guess I wanted to live up 

to the expectations. I didn’t want to stumble. 

 

JOHNSON: Were there any ceremonies or events held in your honor? 

 

MITCHELL: Here? 

 

JOHNSON: Yes. 

 

MITCHELL: I don’t know. I think it was in my honor, because I kind of seemed like the 
                     
6 Frank Mitchell’s arrival at the Capitol as the first African-American House Page was widely covered by the press. 
For an example, see “Springfield Negro Made House Page,” 15 April 1965, Chicago Tribune: C3. 
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celebrity. I don’t know for sure, but there was something at Johnson 

Publishing—Ebony and Jet. And for me and Lawrence Bradford—the guy who 

was appointed in the Senate the day before I was.7

 

 And it was at their offices, 

wherever those are. And I remember there were some girls there around my age, 

giggling and asking me for my autograph. Bobby Mitchell was there. No relation. 

But Bobby Mitchell was a great Washington Redskins tailback and one of my 

heroes. He should have been the center of attention, but he wasn’t. {laughter} I 

was, so—or me and Lawrence. So that was kind of interesting. Out of that, I 

remember meeting—from that, I remember meeting some people that kind of 

kept in contact while I was here in Washington—I’ve lost contact since—but 

that had invited me to various functions and things. I remember going to the old 

Glen Echo Park—if you remember—one of those amusement parks over in 

Maryland. And I remember going out to somebody’s relative’s farm on a 

weekend and just playing volleyball and tossing people up on a blanket and 

trying to milk cows and stuff. Just, you know, just stuff. {laughter} So it was—

there were ceremonies, and then there were just connections that were made.  

JOHNSON: So would you describe the response as positive with the other Pages to begin 

with? What was their reaction?  

 

MITCHELL: It was very positive. I only remember one guy that was kind of . . . that there was 

any kind of friction with. And I just think he and I had different personalities. 

Pages, I guess, by the qualifications you have to have to be there, are leaders of 

some sort. And I just don’t think he liked sharing anything in a leadership 

capacity with anyone else. And so he and I kind of had some words a couple of 

times. He was also the son of a Congressman, so I kind of brushed that off. But 

we were fine. I mean . . . and all the other—many of the Pages—we got together, 
                     
7 Lawrence Bradford earned the distinction of becoming first African-American congressional Page. For information 
on his appointment and time as a Senate Page, see “Pioneer Senate Page,” 14 April 1965, New York Times: 26.  
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many of the Pages would play basketball. I mean, the Capitol Page School 

doesn’t have any facilities. So I don’t remember what the circumstances were, but 

we went to a school—I don’t know if somebody rented it or had a relative or 

what. But we’d go there and play basketball sometimes on Friday nights, stuff 

like that. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you have the opportunity to get to know Minority Leader and future 

President Gerry Ford? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, I knew him, but not—I mean, we never had more of a conversation than 

him coming into the cloakroom and making small talk. But at the same time, I 

always thought because I received a warm reception, because there was never any 

hint of racism, or I was never made to feel that I’m the only one—I 

[16:00] attribute that to Ford. I think he set the ground rules before I ever showed up, 

before I was ever selected. He said, “If we’re going to do this, we’re going to do 

this right,” is my guess. And that’s the way I always felt, is that he made it 

comfortable. Because it could have been real uncomfortable. 

 

JOHNSON: Right. What were your impressions of Congressman Findley, who was your 

sponsor? 

 

MITCHELL: Right. Nice guy. He may have been one of the influences for me to go into 

journalism, because that’s something he did early in his career. He’s just—he and 

his wife are just nice people. I still communicate with them. I visited with them a 

couple of months ago. He was giving a speech a couple of months ago at Illinois 

College and invited me to come, and I went, and I went to his house afterwards 

and spent some time with his wife and his grandson. He’s just a nice guy. 
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JOHNSON: Can you describe, from what you remember, your first day—and if you don’t 

have clear memories of that—your first week as a Page? 

 

MITCHELL: I just remember that it was a lot of information you had to learn. A lot of people. 

I mean, there were, I don’t know, 175 Members that I might have to go and tell 

them [about a] telephone [call] or take them a message or something like that, so 

I didn’t want to walk up to Al [Albert] Quie when it was Bob [Robert] Dole, you 

know, or H. R. [Harold] Gross, or somebody like that. You wanted to know who 

was who. So you had your little booklet, and you had to kind of memorize what 

they looked like and stuff, although the pictures were probably outdated to begin 

with.8

 

 And then, you know, just knowing your way around, you know. While I 

was a phone Page, there still were sometimes chores they had me run, you know, 

to say “I need something from my office,” or something like that. And so you 

had to go navigate the bowels of the Capitol complex, which I could never do 

right now. {laughter} So that was a learning experience. And just getting a sense 

of all the protocol. Because Washington is a town of protocol, you know. You do 

things the right way. There’s a process for everything. And not that I was going 

to go overboard on something, but just knowing what the proper way to do 

things is becomes a learning process. 

JOHNSON: Did you and the other Pages have any kind of training or orientation as far as 

what was expected of you and learning about the House procedures? 

 

MITCHELL: Not really. It was all kind of as-you-go. I remember—this might be something 

from the first day—where my . . . I don’t remember his name, but the head 

phone Page, his name was Bob [Robert] Bauman. He later became a 

Congressman. And then later there was a guy named Ron. 
                     
8 Reference to the Congressional Pictorial Directory, which includes photographs of sitting Members for each 
Congress.  
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JOHNSON: Was that Ron Lasch?9

 

 

MITCHELL: Yes. Is he still around? 

 

JOHNSON: He retired.  

 

MITCHELL: And they kind of talked you through things until you got comfortable. You 

know. If somebody says, “Take this to Congressman Clausen”—well, which one? 

Well, first of all, you had to know there were more than one.10

 

  

JOHNSON: Right. 

 

MITCHELL: But then they’d say, “The one in the second row, third seat in” or something. 

[20:00] You need to do things this way. So the question might be, if I’ve got a message or 

if I need to call somebody on the phone and they’re speaking, what do I do? Do I 

wait? Do I go back and tell them the person who called—they’re [the Member is] 

engaged in a debate now. Little things like that. That a kid, regardless of whether 

they’re 15 or 18, wouldn’t know. {laughter}What the proper thing to do is. So 

there was kind of that on-the-job training as you went along that you would 

learn about. But no . . . some kind of orientation would probably be a good idea. 

I don’t know if they do it now. Do they? 

 

JOHNSON: They do. 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah. That’s probably good. {laughter} 
                     
9 Ron Lasch was a House employee for more than 40 years. For information on his career, see Congressional 
Record, House, 106th Cong., 2nd sess. (11 July 2000): 5820–5821.  
10 During the 89th Congress (1965–1967) Donald Clausen and Delwin Clawson, both Republicans from the state of 
California, served in the House.  
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JOHNSON: You mentioned in the beginning of the interview—you didn’t mention her by 

name—but I think that was Mrs. Corbin? Was that her name? 

 

MITCHELL: Yes. 

 

JOHNSON: The executive secretary for Congressman McClory.  

 

MITCHELL: Yes. 

 

JOHNSON: She was mentioned in a newspaper article saying that she served as a mentor to 

you. 

 

MITCHELL: Yes. 

 

JOHNSON: Was that the case while you were on the job as well? 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah, although we didn’t have a chance to talk about the job. I mean, she had 

her duties in the Congressman’s office, and I was on the floor. But she was very 

helpful in a number of things. I remember there was a letter I wrote to my local 

newspaper, a letter to the editor. I can’t remember the subject; I had it for years. I 

don’t even know where it’s at now, or even if I still have it. But she encouraged 

me to write it. And she encouraged me, I remember, to pursue—she said, “If you 

like to write, you need to do it.” You know, rather than talk about it, “you need 

to do it.” So—I mean, I lived with her for awhile, too. When I came to 

Washington, first she found kind of a distant cousin—his name was Don 

Jackson. He and his wife, Maggie, let me stay with them. Don was probably—he 

was 26. And they had a newborn—he was just walking. Barry. And Don tells me 
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now, he says, “All I needed to do was get a record player and some records, and 

you and Barry were satisfied.” {laughter} And I’d stay in the room playing records 

and stuff. And I remember one time Barry got it—I liked model cars and model 

airplanes. And he got into some model car paint, and it was all over. And it just 

doesn’t wipe off—it just doesn’t come off with soap and water. And Maggie had 

been scrubbing and scrubbing until he was about raw. And for some reason—I 

mean, I wasn’t a chemistry guy or anything—but for some reason I took some 

Listerine and a cotton ball, and it came right off.  

 

 But I stayed with Don and Maggie, and then Maggie was pregnant. And so when 

I came back for the next session, where I was going to stay was a question. And 

Mrs. Corbin said, “Well, you’ll stay with me, then.” And so I stayed with her the 

last couple months I was a Page. 

  

 But I remember when I first came—I mean, it was well into the evening. It was 

after the news conference, and we had kind of moved to Congressman McClory’s 

office. And I still didn’t know where I was staying. And Mrs. Corbin finally said, 

“Well, you’ve got somebody coming to pick you up.” So  

[24:00] they didn’t have a plan. {laughter} Back that Sunday when they called, they 

didn’t have a plan on where I was going to stay on Wednesday when I got there. 

So that adds to my amazement of my mother allowing me to go, not knowing 

where I was going to stay, so. 

 

JOHNSON: Was this the case for most of the Pages, though? Maybe not that much of a short 

notice, but there wasn’t anyone who helped them find housing—that was their 

own responsibility? 

 

MITCHELL: Right. Right. As far as I knew. However, most of the Pages then were from 
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Virginia or Maryland. There were very few that I knew of . . . The one guy that I 

mentioned that—he and I—I say that, but there were four phone Pages. I was 

one of four. And the four of us were scattered all over—from Wisconsin . . . I 

think two from California. But the others, the Pages that did errands, for the 

most part, most of them were from Virginia or Maryland. And most of them 

had, like, apartments that they stayed in Monday through Friday, and then 

they’d go home for the weekend. At 16 years old, that’s pretty tough. {laughter} 

 

JOHNSON: You talked about, a little bit, some of the assignments that you had. But if you 

had to describe a typical day as a Page for you in 1965 and 1966, how would you 

do that? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, on the job, it was—the phone rings, and, I mean, we sit—you come in the 

cloakroom; there were five or six seats to the right, and there’s a row of phone 

booths that wrapped around to the left and then all along the facing wall. And if 

one rang down here, the guy on that end kind of got it; if one rang down there, 

that end guy got it. When it was in the middle, one of the middle guys kind of 

got it. And you—there would be one of two requests. They would say, “I’d like 

to speak to Congressman Ford.” And so you’d say, “Hold on, please, I’ll have to 

get him from the floor.” And so you’d go to the floor, and you’d find out who 

they were and everything. And I remember taking calls from Ronald Reagan, 

Nelson Rockefeller . . . I want to say Jerry Brown, even. {laughter} But I’m not 

sure why he’d have been calling, anyway. But you’d go out and you’d tell them, 

and they’d say “I’ll take it” or “I’ll call them back; have them hold on for a few 

minutes” or “I’ll call them back” or whatever. And then you’d go back in and 

wait for it to happen again. There weren’t a whole lot of—there wasn’t a whole 

lot of other work that was done, that I did, that I remember. It was mostly just 

phone stuff.  
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JOHNSON: That was your primary responsibility. 

 

MITCHELL: Yes. 

 

JOHNSON: So you didn’t run errands like the majority of the Pages. 

 

MITCHELL: Right. Right. Now, do they do it differently now? Are there—because most of 

them, like I said, there were four of us that were phones, and then there were 

maybe 40 or more that were runners, if you will. And they might, for something 

as simple as, you know, “Get me a pack of cigarettes” back then, or “some potato 

chips” or “a candy bar,” or “Go to my office and tell my secretary  

[28:00] to give you this file.” That kind of thing. But for the phone guys, it was just—

and sometimes the phones were ringing off the hook. Because if there was some 

legislation that was hot or some issue that was going on, it was ringing off the 

hook. I mean, the four of us had maybe, you know, all 10 of them or all 13 of 

them, however many phones there were ringing. And Ron [Lasch] and Bob 

[Bauman] had to get involved, too. 

 

JOHNSON: Okay. As a phone Page, you must have spent an extensive period of time in the 

cloakroom—the Republican Cloakroom. 

 

MITCHELL: Right. 

 

JOHNSON: What do you remember about Helen Sewell, the manager of the snack bar?11

                     
11 For information on Helen Sewell, see “Longtime House Employee Helen Sewell,” Weekly Historical Highlights, 
Office of the House Historian, http://artandhistory.house.gov/highlights.aspx?action=view&intID=88; Bree 
Hocking, “Friends Remember the Smile Behind Café Helen,” 24 July 2006, Roll Call. 

 Do 

you remember her? 
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MITCHELL: I had been trying to remember her name. Thank you. {laughter} I remember she 

kind of took a motherly approach to me. And I remember she fattened me up, 

too. I used to eat her roast beef sandwiches like they were going out of style. And 

a couple of glazed doughnuts. Because, you know, you get up at 5:00 in the 

morning to go to Page school. You know, you might get a bowl of cereal—not 

much, not every day. And so you’re going to school, so by the time you get out 

of school at whatever it is, 9:00 or 9:30, you’re starving. So you’d walk in the 

cloakroom and [say], “Helen, I need two roast beef”—that was breakfast—“Two 

roast beef sandwiches.” {laughter} But she was just a nice lady. Yeah. She was very 

protective, you know. And I remember her pulling me to the side and saying, 

you know, “This Congressman is, you know, this way, or this Congressman is 

that way.” You know, nothing derogatory, but things she felt would serve me in 

going forward, you know, and in dealing with those Congressmen. 

 

JOHNSON: Was that something she specifically advised you on, or did she do that with the 

other Pages as well? 

 

MITCHELL: I don’t know. I don’t know. I felt it was something she went—I actually felt it 

was something she went out of her way to do for me, since I was the first black. 

 

JOHNSON: What else do you recall about the cloakroom? The physical structure and then 

also the atmosphere of the cloakroom? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, I remember it was L-shaped, and in the back half of the ‘L’ it was a lot of 

big, comfortable chairs and couches. And the Congressmen would come back 

and take advantage of that, particularly on a long day, a long session. And we 

would have something . . . we had some overnighters during some of the—I was 
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there during the civil rights—Voting Rights Act debate. There were some 

housing debates, I remember. And you could always tell when you got the 

calendar of the agenda for the coming week and what was coming up, and you’d 

see the number of hours set for debate. And you’d say, “Oh, this is going to be a 

long one.” {laughter} And so by midnight, two or three in the morning, and 

they’re still going, and we’re like this, you know, just hanging our heads. And 

that’s when Ms. [Frances] Bolton would come in.12

 

 “Hello boys! How you guys 

doing? Oh, you’re looking so—like you’re pooped out. You need to get some 

energy.” And she’d tell us to breathe deeply and close our eyes, think about 

relaxing from head to toe, just a little bit at a time, and then reverse the process, 

and then you’ll feel better. And she was right. But it would only last a half an 

hour, and then you’d feel tired again. {laughter} 

JOHNSON: Do you remember any other Members of Congress in particular  

[32:00] that spent a lot of time in the cloakroom or that you had a chance to see a 

different side of?  

 

MITCHELL: Well, I remember Al Quie, probably just because he was so tall. But [also] 

because I later lived in Minnesota and got a chance to meet him then, you know, 

as an adult. His demeanor and disposition never changed. Unlike Don Rumsfeld, 

who was a Congressman then. And he was a lot different later as Secretary of 

Defense, to me. But he had to be, obviously. Again, everybody I met and 

everybody I saw, and the way I saw them, was pretty positive. I didn’t see, you 

know, any ranklings between Members. And certainly not anything aimed at me. 

Just people had their idiosyncrasies, things they were known for, like H. R. Gross 

was kind of the guy that made sure the Members had their i’s dotted and their t’s 
                     
12 For information on Congresswoman Frances Bolton, see Office of History and Preservation, Office of the Clerk, 
Women in Congress, 1917–2006 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 2006): 190–195 and 
http://womenincongress.house.gov. 
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crossed. And he would challenge them, you know, kind of from a grammatical 

standpoint. You know, in their bills, in the structure of how they were written 

and stuff like that.  

 

 I remember Bob [Robert] Michel, who was from Peoria [Illinois]. Later I played 

basketball against his son, Scott. I remember a lot of them, but I didn’t—in 

terms of having a relationship with them or anything like that, I really didn’t, 

besides Mr. Findley. 

 

JOHNSON: What about Les [Leslie] Arends? Did you have an impression of him? Did you 

get to see him interact in the cloakroom? 

 

MITCHELL: Oh, yeah. He would whip them up—to use the terminology of what he did.13

                     
13 Designated to assist party leadership in managing the legislative program on the House Floor, the Whip keeps 
track of all legislation and ensures that all party members are present when important measures are to be voted upon. 
For a complete list of Democratic and Republican Whips, see 

 

He might come in and have a list of people he needed to contact, and he would 

hand somebody, you know. “I need to talk to these people. After you get one, get 

the other. Got them all on the phone? Call this one.” You know. So he was—we 

know what he’s doing, but you know, in terms of what he’s trying to do and 

make the process work, and to really make the job of Republican Whip, in that 

case, come to life. Again, I’m not sure we understood it. We knew what our role 

was: We needed to make these phone calls. You know, now, looking back, he was 

really making things happen for his side of the aisle. You know, get the people in 

there. I would guess that some of what was going on, some of what we were 

calling for him, were probably lobbyists that needed to maybe do some more 

arm-twisting. Things like that. But again, we weren’t taking time to think about 

it. 

http://artandhistory.house.gov/house_history/dem_whips.aspx and 
http://artandhistory.house.gov/house_history/rep_whips.aspx .  
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JOHNSON: You were a Republican Page. Did you have the chance to interact with the 

Democratic Pages? 

 

MITCHELL: Not really. Not really. It just didn’t happen. I’m not sure why. I mean, other 

than in school, and you really didn’t get to know people at school that well. 

Again, because classes were short, school was fairly compacted. So you just  

[36:00] interacted—you got to know the guys in the cloakroom very well. You got to 

know some of the other Pages on that side of the aisle because when things were 

slow, you know, you’d sit in the cloakroom for awhile, and then you’d go 

outside, you know, just step out, and the others would be standing around. A 

couple of the guys—I remember Carey Flynn was one guy and Barry Mersky, I 

think his last name is.14

  

 Barry’s up in New York, and Carey’s somewhere around 

the Virginia/Maryland areas in dentistry. Those are the only two guys I really 

remember.  

 But, you know, it’s the same with Congressmen. Didn’t really meet any of the—

the only one [Speaker of the House] I met was John McCormack, really. He 

called me up to the Speaker’s podium one day. Scared the bejeepers out of me. 

{laughter} I mean, “Who, me? He wants me where?” {laughter} And he just 

shook my hand and asked me how I was enjoying it. Welcomed me to 

Washington. And it was great. That was an honor. That was an extreme honor. 

 

JOHNSON: I can see where it would make you nervous when the Speaker of the House is 

calling upon you personally. {laughter} 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah—“What’d I do? What’d I do?” {laughter} 
                     
14 Carey Flynn and Barry Mersky both served as House Pages. For more information, see the 1965 Congressional 
Page Yearbook. 

http://oralhistory.clerk.house.gov/�
http://bioguide.congress.gov/scripts/biodisplay.pl?index=M000364�


http://oralhistory.clerk.house.gov/ 20 

 

JOHNSON: You’ve alluded to the school—the Capitol Page School a few times. Can you 

describe it in a little more detail? Where the classes were held and what the 

curriculum was like? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, I remember it was on the top floor, and it was kind of a rectangle shape. 

You’d just walk around the top floor and keep taking lefts. I remember there 

wasn’t any chemistry. The sciences were not represented well. The teachers were 

different than the teachers I had been used to in Springfield, in that they were 

more engaging with the students. Obviously, the classrooms were small, but I 

remember there just would be—it wouldn’t just be book learning, if you will. It 

would be kind of your perspective on what’s in the book. Trying to make it come 

to life, make it personal for the student. Which I thought was a good way, but 

again, I was disappointed because I hadn’t taken chemistry as a sophomore in 

Springfield, and then since I was here at the start of my junior year and they 

didn’t have it, that meant I was going to have to take it my senior year, and I 

didn’t want to do that. Because I had enough credits, you know, to graduate, 

except for the requirements of having four years of English or something like 

that. So I wanted to take the senior year—take it easy. So I didn’t want no 

chemistry in my senior year, so I didn’t take chemistry. {laughter} 

 

JOHNSON: What classes did you take, then? If you didn’t have chemistry? You had English, 

math— 

 

MITCHELL: English, some history, math—algebra, probably, back then . . . 

 

JOHNSON: Did you have any kind of civics that would connect with what you were doing  

[40:00] as a Page? 
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MITCHELL: No, not that I remember. I think it was just good old American history. 

 

JOHNSON: You said you were 15 when you were a Page. What were the typical ages of the 

other Pages at the time? 

 

MITCHELL: Most of them that I remember were 16 or 17. And going back to the Page 

school, I came in April, and so there was only like a month and a half left of 

school. So I attended classes, but they didn’t feel it would be fair to me to make 

me make up the whole semester worth of work. They didn’t know what to apply 

from my old school and stuff like that. So somebody worked it out where I went 

back to Springfield at the end of the sophomore year—at the end of May, I 

think, or first week in June, or something—and took some exams—based on 

what I’d learned in Springfield, even though I was a month and a half short. And 

that’s how I became a junior. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you go back home that summer, or did you stay in Washington, D.C.? 

 

MITCHELL: No, I just went back for that few days, and then I went back [to Washington], 

and I was there until November, I guess. Until the session ended. And then I 

came back in January.  

 

JOHNSON: Did you have access to all areas of the Capitol as a Page? Were you able to roam 

free, basically? 

 

MITCHELL: As far as I knew. I mean, I wasn’t that much of an explorer. I didn’t want to get 

in trouble for being somewhere I wasn’t supposed to be. {laughter} But yeah. I 

could go, you know, into any office I wanted to, if I wanted to. But usually I’d 
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have to have a reason. You know, if somebody asked me to do something. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you have a favorite area of the Capitol? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, actually, although I never did feel comfortable learning the nooks and 

crannies of the tunnel, the tunnel was cool. You know, just walking from the 

Capitol to one of the office buildings. That was cool. And it was cool walking 

through the Rotunda to the Senate side. But there were . . . I’m trying to 

remember if there was anywhere I went and hid. {laughter} There was probably 

somewhere that everybody has, you know, to go in when they need that 10-

minute nap. I’m sure I had one, but I can’t remember where it was. {laughter} 

 

JOHNSON: Or if you just want to be by yourself. 

 

MITCHELL: Just want to be by yourself, right. Right. 

 

JOHNSON: Just for a few minutes. 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah. 

 

JOHNSON: Well, before I get to that point, I wanted to ask you: Did you get to know any of 

the neighborhood children? Some of our previous interviewees that lived in the 

city—that eventually worked at the Capitol—said that the Capitol was almost a 

playground for them. That they would come into the Capitol and that they were 

able to access rooms and get to know some of the Pages. Did you have an 

opportunity to meet anyone from D.C.? 

 

MITCHELL: I did, but not necessarily in the neighborhood. Don, the guy I stayed with, he 
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knew some people that had—actually, I think they were girls my age that I 

[44:00] met. I think they were trying to hook us up. {laughter} But I never met—I mean, 

I remember going—I lived on Minnesota Avenue, Southeast. I remember that. 

3510. Why I remember that, I have no idea. And I remember going to some 

school in the neighborhood and playing basketball. But I never really connected 

with any of the guys playing basketball.  

  

A 1 minute, 39 second segment of this interview has been redacted.   

 

Brief Interruption 

 

JOHNSON: Okay, we had a minor interruption, but we’re back on tape again.  

 

MITCHELL: Okay. 

 

JOHNSON: As far as you know, was there any area in the Capitol, during this period when 

you were Page, that was still segregated? 

 

MITCHELL: Not that I know of. No one ever told me I couldn’t go anywhere. And in fact, I 

guess, to tell you the truth, I never thought about it. It never came up. [Bob] 

Bauman, Ron [Lasch], [Gerry] Ford, [Paul] Findley—nobody ever said,  

 

 

 “You can’t go here or there.” Nobody ever said that. And I went pretty much 

everywhere. I mean, I would get—like, I got a letter—thank-you letters from 

Everett Dirksen, the Illinois Senator. And I got a thank-you letter from Hubert 

Humphrey. So somebody said, “Well, you should call their office and ask to 

meet them.” So I did. And I went over and got pictures with Senator Dirksen. 
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You know, “Hello, Mr. Mitchell.” {laughter} And Hubert Humphrey. You 

know, I still have those pictures today. You know, and that was a big deal for me. 

In terms of segregation, the only thing that ever happened—that ever, ever, ever 

happened racially was . . . what’s the name of it? The American Nazi Party. Some 

guy handcuffed himself to the gallery railing, and threw out this racist literature 

on the House Floor. And during that time, you know, it was pretty bad stuff. It 

was, like, tickets back to Africa for black people. And caricatures and stuff. And 

folks were looking at me to see how I was going to react, you know. But that was 

the only time where I remember anything like that. And it really didn’t affect me. 

You know, the guy was handcuffed, and they had to come and wire-cut him off 

and take him to jail. That gave me an idea of how much people hate people for 

no good reason. But [I was] never told not to go anywhere. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you ever feel that you were treated differently because of your race by Pages 

or Members, staff, anyone at all while you were at the Capitol? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, yes, but in a good way. I think some people went out of their way to be 

nice to me. But never in a bad way. No one ever treated me poorly because I was 

black. Not that I ever sensed. They may have said things behind my back, but 

that didn’t hurt me. So they didn’t make—that wouldn’t have made any 

difference, so. I received great treatment from everybody I came in contact with, 

from staff to Members of Congress. Just all across the board. It was great. Which 

is particularly surprising, to be in 1965, when there were still so many areas of 

the culture that were segregated, that were hateful. It really is amazing.  

 

JOHNSON: Washington, D.C., was desegregated during this period. But did you ever have  

[4:00] a time when, outside of the Capitol, in the city, that you were excluded from any 

sort of area, public or private? 
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MITCHELL: I remember—I think when I went back to Springfield to take my final exams for 

my sophomore year—I think I took the bus. I know I took the bus one time; I 

think it was for that particular occasion. And we stopped somewhere in West 

Virginia. And we were told the Negroes were to go around back to get—to use 

facilities, to get something to eat, whatever. And when I heard that, I just got 

back on the bus and didn’t deal with it. I didn’t want to—didn’t want to deal 

with it. So, that was the only thing, and that wasn’t, obviously, in Washington, 

but it was as a result of being in Washington. 

 

JOHNSON: What are your memories of Washington, D.C., in 1965 and in 1966? 

 

MITCHELL: I learned how to drive in D.C. So I guess my memories are fond. {laughter} I 

liked it. I liked D.C. It seemed to me to be a nice place to live. There were some 

cultural things; the history is just amazing here, and again, I was kind of into 

that. So I enjoyed being here, and I really thought one day I’d come back and 

live here. I haven’t made it yet. {laughter} 

 

JOHNSON: Were you active in the civil rights movement as a teenager? 

 

MITCHELL: Later I was. I was the head of the—president of the youth—NAACP Youth 

Council in Springfield. I remember when Reverend [Jesse] Jackson was bringing 

busloads of people down to Springfield to march on the capitol about various 

entitlements issues. I remember picking people up that were staying in different 

people’s houses, to give them a ride to the meeting place before the march. So I 

guess I would say I was supporting.  

  

 When I became a reporter, in newspaper first, I guess I felt some obligation to 
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make sure news about black people was covered that hadn’t previously been 

covered and wouldn’t be covered if I didn’t cover it. For instance, I did a piece 

on—a series—on Black History Week in 1972. It was only a week then. And I 

can say that they’re still using some of the pieces for historical purposes in 

Springfield. When I left the newspaper, I urged them to replace me with a black 

person. I don’t know if they did or not, but over the years there have 

[8:00]  been others.  

 

 When I went into television, I kind of tweaked my position, because one of the 

things it seemed to me was that they wanted me to be the black reporter to cover 

black news. And I didn’t think that was the same. I thought, if there’s news that 

won’t get covered unless I cover it, I’ll cover it. But because something happens 

with or about black people doesn’t make me the reporter that needs to cover it. 

Everyone should be able to cover it. Any reporter should be able to cover it. So 

consequently, one—I think it was a Sunday—I got a call from a guy wanting me 

to come in to work that day, on my day off, but he wanted me to come because 

there had been a double murder in the black community, and they thought I 

could maybe open some doors to get some interviews that other reporters 

couldn’t. I wasn’t sure I was going to buy that argument, but I went along with 

it. Well, I didn’t get too much further than anybody else would have, but I did 

the story, anyway.  

    

 And again, when I left, ironically, I left that station and left television news 

because of a disagreement over a Washington story. It was when Hubert 

Humphrey had been diagnosed with inoperable cancer. I broke that story in 

Minneapolis at the TV station. I was the first reporter to cover it. And when he 

got well enough to come back to Washington, my news director assigned me to 

come back and cover his first few days back in the Senate. So I started calling 
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some people out here and saying, “I’m going to be in town, I’m going to be in 

town.” And then the next day, the general manager decided he wanted this other 

guy to go. And I’m like, “Wait a minute, this is my story. What do you mean, 

you want Al to go?” And he said, “Well, he’s got more seniority than you do.” So 

I said, “But wait a minute, this is my story.” And he wouldn’t back off, and the 

news director was out of town that day, so, to make a long story short, I quit. 

Not on the spot, but I quit after I found another job. And basically, I haven’t 

looked back to TV since.  

    

 So that’s kind of my . . . But over the years I’ve been active in a number of . . . 

they wouldn’t be called civil rights efforts anymore, but things that are positive 

for the black community. I was president of the Nebraska Black Managers’ 

Association, which gave out scholarships to kids going to college. I’ve been on 

sickle-cell boards to raise money for sickle-cell anemia. What being a Page did, 

one of the things it did for me was make me want to contribute in the 

community. That’s just automatic. That’s one thing it did for me. The other 

thing it did for me was to believe that anything I wanted to do, I could do. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you ever have any aspirations, based on your time as a Page, to follow a 

political career for yourself? 

 

MITCHELL: I did, but I didn’t. {laughter} I wanted to a couple of times. I mean, growing up, 

I don’t know, it was probably even before I became a Page, but certainly 

[12:00] afterwards I wanted to be the mayor of Springfield. But then after you get into it, 

after—especially from a reporter’s perspective, when you cover it, and you see the 

poor treatment that politicians receive—some maybe deserve it, but just 

everything is public. And I guess I was a little too private for that. So probably 

the closest thing I came to running for office was city council in Minneapolis. 
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And I didn’t do that, probably because I couldn’t afford to quit my political job, 

or my reporting job, to run for office that I may not get, and then I’d be out of a 

job and broke, too. {laughter} So I didn’t do that. 

 

JOHNSON: Going back to the civil rights questions that we started—were you ever recruited 

by any civil rights leaders while you were in D.C. because of your stature as the 

first black Page for the House? 

 

MITCHELL: No. I think I was kind of . . . just a little pebble in the scheme of things. I mean, 

it happened—yeah, maybe it’s significant. I mean, it still bewilders me why it 

took 150 years. You know, or whatever it was, to make it happen. And then even 

longer for girl Pages—for female Pages.15

 

 That baffles me, too. But no one ever 

really recruited me. I mean, I didn’t meet anybody because of it. You know, Dr. 

King, or Reverend Abernathy, or Jackson or anybody like that. Nope. 

JOHNSON: Earlier you mentioned Lawrence Bradford, who one day before you became the 

first black Page for Congress. Did you get to know him well? 

 

MITCHELL: Pretty good, yeah. We hung out. I mean, we were kind of linked. We played 

basketball together, we went out sometimes together and went to parties—threw 

parties together. But we never kept in contact. There was another guy, Ernie 

Wilson, that was a Page for the Supreme Court. Now, Ernie—excuse me—

Ernest Wilson III is now chancellor or the dean of the School of 

Communications at USC, I believe. And a curriculum vitae this long [spread 

arms wide]. {laughter} But, yeah. Ernie and Lawrence and I would kind of, you 

                     
15 On May 21, 1973, Felda Looper became the first female to serve as a Page in the House of Representatives. For a 
brief summary, see “May 21, 1973,” Weekly Historical Highlights, Office of the House Historian, 
http://artandhistory.house.gov/highlights.aspx?action=view&intID=131 . The Office of the House Historian 
conducted an oral history interview with Felda Looper on May 21, 2007. 
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know, co-mingle. 

 

JOHNSON: I was going through the Page yearbooks for the period, and I also came across 

Fraser Walton, a Supreme Court Page. Did you get to know him? 

 

MITCHELL: Didn’t know him. 

 

JOHNSON: Okay. What about the African-American Members at the time? There were only 

six; they were all Democrats, and you were a Republican Page. But did you get to 

know any of them? Did any of them seek you out and offer any advice? 

 

MITCHELL: Not at all. Not at all. And the only one really I remember anything about is 

Adam Clayton Powell [Jr.].16

[16:00] you know, let a young kid know that he’s welcome and if he needs somebody 

here, here I am. But no one ever did. Nope. 

 I don’t know if it’s protocol or what. It would seem 

to me that that would have been something—the right thing to do. To,  

 

JOHNSON: Did you get to witness—you mentioned Adam Clayton Powell—any speeches 

that he might have made on the floor, or any of the other black Members of the 

time? 

 

MITCHELL: Oh, yeah. Definitely I remember him. He was quite eloquent, quite gregarious. 

And really, when he got up to speak, you know, you kind of expected—

everybody kind of stopped and said, “Okay, what’s he going to do now?” And he 

was just an interesting character. But I don’t know whether there would have 

been anything I could have done to have gotten to know him that would have 

                     
16 For information on Congressman Adam Clayton Powell, Jr., see Office of History and Preservation, Office of the 
Clerk, Black Americans in Congress, 1870–2007 (Washington, D.C.: U.S. Government Printing Office, 2008): 300–
309 and http://baic.house.gov. 
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been appropriate, given the different parties and different ages and things like 

that. But it was interesting being here while he was a Member and to see him in 

action. 

 

JOHNSON: And Congressman [William] Dawson, from Illinois—you didn’t get to know 

him at all either?17

 

 

MITCHELL: No. No. 

 

JOHNSON: You did mention that it was a long night when the Voting Rights Act was passed. 

What do you remember about that day and that night? Or were you too busy 

working to really have an idea of what was going on on the floor? 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah. You really . . . Again, being a part of history, you don’t really know what it 

means. And you have to put that kind of in the chain of events of what needs to 

happen. You know, with the troops going to enforce letting people register to 

vote, or letting people vote. Things like that. And that this piece of legislation is 

going to help ease some of the confusion over that and help make it happen so 

that people can exercise their right. You don’t think of that as a Page, necessarily. 

Maybe as a legislative assistant or aide or something like that, but not as a Page, I 

don’t think. Not as a 15- or 16-year-old Page. It’s some years later that you see 

where it fits into the scheme of things.  

 

JOHNSON: You mentioned that there were some leisure activities that you took part in—

basketball, for instance. Were these organized activities for Pages, or was this 

something that you did on your own time? 

 

                     
17 Office of History and Preservation, Black Americans in Congress: 292–299 and http://baic.house.gov. 
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MITCHELL: Yeah, it was kind of something that you did on your own time. It was kind of by 

invite. No one who was going to organize it, who was going to put it together—

again, I think someone had some connection at these schools that we would go 

to, so that we could get in and play some ball. So it wasn’t like all, you know, 

100 Pages on both sides of the aisle. It was like, maybe 15, 20 guys. If even that. 

It might have been 12 or 14. 

 

JOHNSON: Were there any organized activities that were held for the Pages? 

 

MITCHELL: Not that I remember. I remember participating in, I think, two softball games.  

[20:00] You know, where the Republicans play the Democrats.18

 

 

JOHNSON: Right. 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah. I remember being involved in a couple of those, like as a bat boy or 

something like that. 

 

JOHNSON: And that’s an annual event that they still have. 

 

MITCHELL: I read that, yeah.  

 

JOHNSON: Well, that must have been fun. 

 

MITCHELL: That was. That was. And don’t they do it at . . .  

 

JOHNSON: This year it was at the [Washington] Nationals Stadium. 
                     
18 First organized in 1909 by Representative John Tener of Pennsylvania, the Congressional Baseball Game was 
held sporadically until 1962 when it became an annual event. For a detailed history, see “Congressional Baseball 
Game,” Office of the House Historian, http://artandhistory.house.gov/house_history/baseball/history.aspx . 
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MITCHELL: Yeah. I was going to say, what’s the name of the team? Senators—it was the 

Senators, wasn’t it? 

 

JOHNSON: Right. The Rayburn House Office Building opened shortly before you became a 

Page, and you weren’t a runner or a messenger, so I don’t know if you had much 

of a chance to go to that new building, or if you heard anyone talking about what 

they thought of it at the time. 

 

MITCHELL: I remember the Cannon and Longworth. Rayburn was a little bit different.19

                     
19 For information on the three House Office Buildings—Cannon, Longworth, and Rayburn—see “The 
Congressional Office Buildings,” Architect of the Capitol, 

 I 

don’t ever remember specifically going there. And usually when I would go, I’m 

thinking it would be to, like, meet with Mr. Findley, wherever his office was—I 

have no idea. Or I think I’d met Mrs. Corbin. And Mrs. Corbin and 

Congressman McClory had an assistant named Juanita Young. And Juanita was 

about 19 and pretty. {laughter}And Juanita kind of took me under her wing, too. 

Ironically, Juanita’s daughter and my oldest son went to Hampton together. And 

I told my son to try to contact Kenyetta—I think her name is—so I could get a 

hold of Juanita and let her know I was coming out here and see if she 

remembered anything about my appointment, about the whole Mrs. Corbin 

thing. Because I figured out just recently—there was a family reunion 4th of July 

weekend, that Don Jackson and his wife came to—and I had this picture. It was 

taken about a block away from where I grew up at. It would have been my great-

great-grandmother’s house. And Mrs. Corbin was in the picture. So I took it, and 

we tried to identify everybody, and then I tried to figure out, “Okay, how are 

they related to me?” Well, Mrs. Corbin’s maiden name was Oldsby. And her 

sister and her brother married two Smiths, sister and brother. The Smiths were 

my great-grand—they were brother and sister to my great-grandmother. So Ms. 

http://www.aoc.gov/cc/cobs/index.cfm.  
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Oldsby and I—Eulalia—Mrs. Corbin and I are not related per se, but we’re kind 

of in the same family. There was no blood. 

 

JOHNSON: But there was a connection. 

 

MITCHELL: But there was a connection there. So. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you view yourself at the time as a pioneer or a pathbreaker, or was it as you 

said a little bit earlier—that you were caught up in the moment, so you didn’t 

really have time to think about yourself as making history? 

 

MITCHELL: Yeah, I definitely didn’t think of myself as a pioneer. Maybe I realized I was 

making history. But looking back at it, it was such an aligning of the planets to  

[24:00] make this happen. Again, I was born in Detroit, got to Springfield because my 

aunt insisted that she’d bring me back. For them to come to Springfield and to 

decide when they decided, after all these years of not having, you know, any 

black person as a Page, then to come to my high school, and to find me? I think 

that was just an incredible . . . It was more than a stroke of luck; it was some kind 

of destiny, that I was supposed to—that it was written before I even came about. 

You know, as weird as that may sound. But too many things had to fall into 

place for me to get here.  

 

 But I didn’t break—I don’t think I broke any barriers for anybody. You know, I 

wasn’t like one of the Little Rock six or nine or however many there were. You 

know, Medgar Evers at the University of Mississippi or anything like that. I 

didn’t do anything like that.  

  

 But what I did do was carry myself with dignity and respect, and I hope I made it 
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easier for the next guy or woman coming along, so that there wouldn’t be any 

hesitation. Because I have to think that, with the way folks thought back then, 

was that the reason no one had been appointed was because with whatever 

stereotypes they had of black people, they said, “Well, maybe a black person can’t 

handle it, or whatever.” Well, I hope I helped knock down some of those myths. 

So in that way, you know, I did my part. 

 

JOHNSON: Did you have any role models while you were a Page here in 1965 or 1966? 

Either on the Hill, or somewhere else? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, on the Hill, not really. The biggest role model in my life probably was my 

Uncle Perry. The one who took me to get the clothes when I found out I was 

going to be leaving . . . He just died last year. I came back to Springfield because 

he was sick and I knew my cousin needed some help, and so I came back, 

because he took care of my folks when they were sick, and it was just my turn. 

He just carried himself in a way that, you know, you wanted to emulate. It was 

more than being a “yes, sir,” and a “no, ma’am,” and opening doors and stuff like 

that. He just had a demeanor about him that commanded respect but gave 

respect. Him, and then Mr. Carey. Mr. Carey was the guy who taught me to 

jump on a trampoline, and play ping-pong and pool. We grew up, like, three 

doors from him. And he was just always somebody who did the right thing. 

Bottom line. 

 

JOHNSON: Do you consider yourself a role model, based on . . .  

 

MITCHELL: Well, more than Charles Barkley. {laughter} 

 

JOHNSON: But based on your time as a Page, and then with what you’ve done in your life 
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since that period? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, yeah. And I think I’ve tried to suggest to some folks in Springfield that 

there are kids of any race that probably could benefit from hearing my story,  

[28:00] and what happened, and how I got there, and what I did or didn’t do with it, 

depending on who wants to interpret it. So, yeah, I guess I do feel that way—

that I have a story to tell. And that story could benefit other people. Hopefully 

the people it benefits most are my three sons and my six grandchildren. There are 

others, though. 

 

JOHNSON: How do you think your time as a Page influenced your life? 

 

MITCHELL: Again, it allowed me to think big, think globally—think beyond Springfield. 

Like I said, I’d been gone: I left Springfield in 1972. Now, on the one hand I 

look at people who’ve been there all that time, and I came back last year, in ’07. 

I’ve been gone all this time, but those people who stayed, are they better off by 

staying? Well, you know, they worked the same job for 30-some years, and 

they’ve got a pension now. Mine might not be as solid as theirs, but they haven’t 

been through a Minnesota blizzard. Or they haven’t, you know, been to a 

[Chicago Cubs] baseball game at Wrigley Field. Or whatever. I’ve just been 

exposed to more. And I think that exposure is a lot more important. And I don’t 

think I would have gotten it had I not ever come to Washington. That let me 

just expand my horizons and seek to expand my horizons, just to believe that I 

could. I mean, I’ve had my own business, I’ve been a television reporter on 

Walter Cronkite, I’ve met a guy who became President, met people who were 

Vice President. It’s just been an amazing life for me.  

   

 And I don’t know that I got any job beyond the first journalism job—at the 
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Illinois State Journal-Register—it was important to them, I think, because of my 

affiliation with Mr. Findley and with David Jones, to engage me in working for 

them. When I first got back, they offered me a job to cover my high school 

sports. That was when, I would say, I was at the end of my junior year. I wanted 

to play, so I told them, “Thanks, but no thanks.” But then later I came back to 

them, took a job as a stock clerk, and told the guy who hired me—I said, “I can 

write. I’d like to maybe do some writing for you.” So they started letting me 

write headlines and wire copy. That was only because the editor had offered me 

the job a few years before, and so they knew that I had some interest in that, and 

maybe some talent, and they taught me everything I needed to know. That was 

the connection between being a Page and getting a job. After that, I don’t think 

any other job I’ve had was a result of my being a 

[32:00] Page. But my believing I could do any other job I had was because I had been a 

Page and had been so successful. There’s some interconnection there. 

 

JOHNSON: If you were asked to give advice at this point to someone who wanted to be a 

Page—a young man or a young woman—what would it be? 

 

MITCHELL: Well, if they wanted to be, I’d just say, you know, keep writing letters to your 

Congressman to try to get their attention. Keep doing the right thing and being 

positive in what you do, and you’ll get the attention of who you need to get the 

attention of. But if you’ve gotten the appointment, take advantage of the 

moment. Keep a log. Keep information straight, because you can’t keep it in your 

head. {laughter} So that later on . . . you don’t know the connections you make. 

You don’t know how they could benefit you in the future. So the people you 

meet along the way, make sure you really meet them. Make sure you stay 

connected with them. Don’t just look at them as somebody for the moment and 

keep on going. Keep those connections, and those can build huge bridges later 
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on. So that would be the most advice I think I could give. 

 

JOHNSON: Would your advice differ for a white Page versus a black Page? 

 

MITCHELL: I don’t think so. No. Because in both cases, you need other people. No one gets 

here by themselves. Wherever you’re at, you got here with the help of somebody 

else. Color doesn’t enter into it. 

 

JOHNSON: Is there anything else you wanted to add today—a topic we didn’t cover, or 

something that you think it would be important to talk about? 

 

MITCHELL: No. Nothing that I can think of. 

 

JOHNSON: Alright. Thank you. Thank you very much. 

 

MITCHELL: Thank you. 
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